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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Nature of the Case:  Wrongful death lawsuit based on exposure to asbestos. 
 
Trial Court: The trial court judge was the Honorable Sally Montgomery, 

County Court at Law No. 3, Dallas County. 
 
Trial Court Judgment: In the first jury trial in this case, the jury returned a verdict on 

March 14, 2005 for $9,327,000 ($3,127,000 in compensatory 
damages, $6,200,000 in punitive damages), allocating 100% 
fault to Georgia-Pacific. Based on an error in the verdict 
form, a new trial was granted. In the second jury trial in this 
case, the jury rendered a verdict of $13,593,917 ($7,554,907 
in compensatory damages, $6,038,910 in punitive damages) 
and found that Georgia-Pacific was 75% responsible. 

 
 Georgia-Pacific filed a motion to recuse Judge Montgomery, 

which was granted. Georgia-Pacific filed a Motion for 
Mistrial, which was granted by Judge Russell Roden, County 
Court at Law No. 1, Dallas County. Plaintiffs filed a Motion 
to Vacate Judge Roden’s Order and Enter Judgment, which 
was granted by Judge D’Metria Benson, the new presiding 
judge of County Court at Law No. 1, Dallas County. On 
October 22, 2008, Judge Benson entered the First Amended 
Final Judgment against Georgia-Pacific for $11,615,263.32 
($6,784,135.32 in compensatory damages, $4,831,128.00 in 
punitive damages), plus pre-and post- judgment interest. 
(App. A). 

 
Court of Appeals: Georgia-Pacific appealed the judgment to the Fifth District 

Court of Appeals on July 29, 2009. 
 
Court of Appeals Panel: Justices David Bridges, Kerry Fitzgerald, and Robert 

Fillmore. 
 
Court of Appeals Opinion: Georgia-Pacific Corp. v. Bostic, 320 S.W.3d 588 (Tex. App. 

– Dallas, 2010) (App. B and C).  Justice Fillmore authored 
the opinion.  

 
Court of Appeals Holding: The Court of Appeals reversed and rendered the judgment of 

the trial court, finding that there was legally insufficient 
evidence of causation. 
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STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION 

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal because the Court of Appeals decision 
conflicts with prior decisions of this Court.  TEX. GOV=T CODE ANN. § 22.001(a)(2).  
Specifically: 
 

a.  The Court of Appeals held that in order to meet the substantial factor 
causation standard in an asbestos case, the plaintiffs must show that defendant’s asbestos 
product at issue was the Abut for@ cause of the plaintiff=s asbestos disease, and without 
which the injury would not have occurred.  Consequently, the Court of Appeals= decision 
conflicts with this Court=s holding in Borg-Warner Corp. v. Flores, 232 S.W.3d 765, 773 
(Tex. 2007) (holding that in an asbestos case, while plaintiffs must show frequent-
regular-proximate causation in order to prove substantial factor causation, they are not 
required to Ademonstrate that fibers from the defendant=s product were the ones, or among 
the ones, that actually produced the malignant growth.@)(App. D.)   
 

b.  The Court of Appeals discredited the evidence of Timothy Bostic=s 
exposure to asbestos from Georgia-Pacific asbestos joint compound, and instead relied on 
contradictory evidence elicited by defendant on cross-examination.  Consequently, the 
Court of Appeals holding conflicts with this Court=s decisions in (i) Merrell Dow v. 

Havner, 953 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Tex. 1997)(in determining whether there is no evidence of 
probative force to support a jury=s finding, all the record evidence must be considered in 
the light most favorable to the party in whose favor the verdict has been rendered, and 
every reasonable inference deducible from that evidence is to be indulged in that party=s 
favor); and (ii) City of Keller v. Wilson, 168 S.W.3d 802, 810 (Tex. 2005).  (ANo 
evidence@ points may only be sustained when the record discloses one of the following 
situations:  A(a) a complete absence of evidence of a vital fact; (b) the court is barred by 
the rules of law or of evidence from giving weight to the only evidence offered to prove a 
vital fact; (c) the evidence offered to prove a vital fact is no more than a mere scintilla; 
(d) the evidence establishes conclusively the opposite of a vital fact.@). 
 

c.  The Court of Appeals failed to recognize that proof of substantial factor 
causation in an asbestos case may vary depending on the type of product and the type of 
disease at issue.  Consequently, the Court of Appeals= decision conflicts with this Court=s 
decision in Borg-Warner Corp. v. Flores, 232 S.W.3d 765, 773 (Tex. 2007) (instructing 
that the requirements for substantial factor causation may differ depending on the type of 
asbestos product and the type of asbestos disease). 
 

d.  The Court of Appeals held that in order to prove substantial factor 
causation, one must calculate the actual dose of asbestos inhaled by the plaintiff from the 
defendant=s product.  Consequently, the Court of Appeals= decision conflicts with this 
Court=s holding in Borg-Warner Corp. v. Flores, 232 S.W.3d 765, 772 (Tex. 
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2007) (holding that the plaintiff must show “the approximate dose to which the plaintiff 
was exposed,” which “need not be reduced to mathematical precision.”).  

 
This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal under Government Code 

§ 22.001(a)(2), because the Court of Appeals’ decision conflicts with the Court of 
Appeals’ decision in Smith v. Kelly-Moore Paint Co., Inc., 307 S.W.3d 829 (Tex. 
App. - Fort Worth 2010, no pet.).  Compare Bostic, 320 S.W.3d at 601 (plaintiff failed to 
adequately quantify the frequency, proximity and duration of asbestos exposure absent 
actual measurements of what the plaintiff inhaled) with Smith, 307 S.W.3d at 836 
(approximate measurements of the fibers released from the asbestos joint compound 
created a triable issue of fact as to the aggregate dose to which the plaintiff was exposed).  
Further, the Court of Appeals’ decision conflicts with the Court of Appeals’ decision in 
Georgia-Pacific Corp. v. Stephens, 239 S.W.3d 304 (Tex. App. - Houston [1st Dist.] 
2007, pet. denied).  Compare Bostic, 320 S.W.3d at 597 (holding that substantial factor 
causation in an asbestos case requires proof that plaintiff show that the asbestos fibers’ 
from the defendant’s product were the actual fibers that produced the harm) with 
Stephens, 239 S.W.3d at 321 (holding that the plaintiff must show specific causation by 
using epidemiological studies to link the “minimum exposure level (or dosage) of joint 

compound with a statistically increased risk of developing the disease.”). 
  
This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal, because the Court of Appeals has 

committed an error of law of such importance to the state=s jurisprudence that it should be 
corrected.  See TEX. GOV=T CODE ANN. § 22.001(a)(6).  The continual misinterpretation 
of this Court=s decision in  Borg-Warner Corp. v. Flores, 232 S.W.3d 765, 772 (Tex. 
2007) has made it nearly impossible for plaintiffs to hold an asbestos judgment on appeal.  
Since this Court handed down the Borg-Warner decision in 2007, every asbestos 
judgment in Texas for plaintiffs has been reversed, and every judgment for defendant 
affirmed.  See e.g. Smith v. Kelly-Moore Paint Co., Inc., 307 S.W.3d 829 (Tex. 
App. - Fort Worth 2010, no pet.); Georgia-Pacific Corp. v. Stephens, 239 S.W.3d 304 
(Tex. App. - Houston [1st Dist.] 2007, pet. denied); Georgia-Pacific Corp. v. Bostic, 320 
S.W.3d 588 (Tex. App. - Dallas, 2010).  Moreover, each different Court of Appeals has 
imposed standards that are not scientifically possible, and thus present a complete bar of 
litigation to these claims—such as requiring that proof of which fibers caused the disease, 
or precise calculations of the amount of asbestos inhaled by the injured party despite the 
fact that these exposures occurred decades ago.  The Court of Appeals decision in  this 
case perpetrates the confusion.  In order to rectify the confusion this decision has created, 
and allow individuals who have been wrongfully injured to have their fair day in court 
with a clear understanding of the law, this Court should grant review, clarify the asbestos 
substantial factor standard, and reverse the Court of Appeals= erroneous decision. 
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ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

Issue 1:  In Borg-Warner Corp. v. Flores, 232 S.W.3d 765, 773 (Tex. 2007), this 
Court held that in an asbestos case, proof of causation does not require that 
one Ademonstrate that fibers from the defendant=s product were the ones, or 
among the ones, that actually produced the malignant growth.@  Id. at 773. 

 
Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that in an asbestos case, where 
multiple exposures combine to cause an individual’s disease, proof of 
causation requires showing that the defendant=s asbestos product was the 
Abut for@ cause of the disease, without which it would not have occurred? 

Issue 2: In Merrell Dow v. Havner, 953 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Tex. 1997) and City of 

Keller v. Wilson, 168 S.W.3d 802, 810 (Tex. 2005), this Court held that in 
determining whether there is no evidence of probative force to support a 
jury=s finding, all the record evidence must be considered in the light most 
favorable to the party in whose favor the verdict has been rendered, and 
every reasonable inference deducible from that evidence is to be indulged 
in that party=s favor.  

 
Did the Court of Appeals, in finding no evidence of frequent, proximate, 
and regular exposure to asbestos, apply the wrong evidentiary standard of 
review by disregarding all evidence favorable to plaintiff and giving weight 
only to contradictory evidence elicited by defendant on cross-examination? 

Issue 3:   In Borg-Warner, 232 S.W.3d at 773, this Court held that the requirements 
for substantial factor causation in an asbestos case may differ depending on 
the type of disease and the type of asbestos product at issue. 

 
Did the Court of Appeals err in failing to recognize proof of substantial 
factor causation differs based on type of disease (e.g. mesothelioma versus 
asbestosis) and type of product (e.g. friable versus encapsulated)? 

Issue 4: Borg-Warner states that the plaintiff, in proving substantial factor causation 
in an asbestos case, must show “the approximate dose to which the plaintiff 
was exposed,” which “need not be reduced to mathematical precision.”  

Borg-Warner, 232 S.W.3d at 773.   
 

Did the Court of Appeals err in requiring calculations of the dose actually 
inhaled from the asbestos product in order to show substantial factor 
causation?  
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I. INTRODUCTION 

The Court should grant review in this case, because the continued 

misinterpretation by the lower courts of this Court’s decision in Borg-Warner Corp. v. 

Flores, 232 S.W.3d 765, 773 (Tex. 2007) has made it scientifically impossible to prove 

causation in an asbestos case.  See Smith v. Kelly Moore Paint Co., Inc., 307 S.W.3d 829 

(Tex. App.   Fort Worth 2010, no pet.)(upholding summary judgment based on “no 

evidence” of causation); Georgia Pacific Corp. v. Stephens, 239 S.W.3d 304 (Tex. App. 

– Houston [1st Dist.] 2007, pet. denied) (reversing and rendering asbestos judgment 

based on insufficient evidence of causation); Georgia-Pacific Corp. v. Bostic, 320 

S.W.3d 588 (Tex. App. -Dallas, 2010) (reversing and rendering asbestos judgment based 

on insufficient evidence of causation).   Indeed, every judgment for the plaintiff in an 

asbestos case since Borg-Warner has been reversed by the lower courts on appeal.   

The Court of Appeals’ decision in this case not only continues to perpetrate the 

confusion surrounding this Court’s Borg-Warner decision, but by requiring proof of 

(i) which fibers caused the asbestos-disease, and (ii) calculations of the actual dose of 

asbestos inhaled, has rendered causation in an asbestos case a literal scientific 

impossibility.  The Court of Appeals’ decision thus upends not only the principles set 

forth by this Court in Borg-Warner, but also creates conflicts among the Courts of 

Appeal.  Compare Bostic, 320 S.W.3d at 601 (plaintiff failed to adequately quantify the 

frequency, proximity and duration of asbestos exposure absent actual measurements of 

what the plaintiff inhaled) with Smith, 307 S.W.3d at 836 (approximate measurements of 

the fibers released from the asbestos joint compound created a triable issue of fact as to 
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the aggregate dose to which the plaintiff was exposed); compare also Bostic, 320 S.W.3d 

at 597 (holding that substantial factor causation in an asbestos case requires proof that the 

asbestos fibers from the defendant’s product were the actual fibers that produced the 

harm) with Stephens, 239 S.W.3d at 321 (holding that substantial factor causation in an 

asbestos case requires use of epidemiological studies to link the “minimum exposure 

level (or dosage) of joint compound with a statistically increased risk of developing the 

disease.”). 

The confusion surrounding the application of the Borg-Warner decision is so 

profound and of such widespread import, that in 2009 the Texas Senate passed Senate 

Bill 1123 (SB 1123 by Sen. Duncan – R, Lubbock)1 in order to legislatively repeal 

portions of the lower courts’ interpretations of Borg-Warner.2  Tex. S.B. 1123, 81st Leg., 

R.S. (2009) (App. E).  Specifically, S.B. 1123 attempted to modify Chapter 90 of the 

Civil Practice and Remedies Code to state that proof of causation in an asbestos 

mesothelioma case does not require proof of “the numerical dose, approximate or 

otherwise, of asbestos fibers” to which the individual was exposed, because this is 

                                              
1 See also Senate Comm. on State Affairs, Witness List, Tex. S.B. 1123, 81st Leg., R.S. (2009) (App. F); Senate 
Comm. on State Affairs, Bill Analysis, Tex. S.B. 1123, 81st Leg. R.S. (2009) (App. G); S.J. of Tex., 81st Leg., R.S., 
at 1170-1171 (2009) (Third Reading of S.B. 1123 Before the S. Comm. on State Affairs) (App. H); Tex. Sen. 
Comm. of State Affairs Minutes, 81st Leg., R.S. (March 23, 2009) (App. I); Tex. Sen. Comm. of State Affairs 
Minutes, 81st Leg., R.S. (April 2, 2009) (App. J).   

2 The video testimony of the debates of the State Affairs Committee and the Senate floor on SB 1123 can be viewed 
at Debate on Tex. S.B. 1123 before the Texas Senate Committee on State Affairs, 81st Leg., R.S. (March 23, 2009) 
(http://www.senate.state.tx.us/avarchive/?yr=2009&mo=03, from 33:27 to 3:18:22); Debate on Tex. S.B. 1123 
before the Texas Senate Committee on State Affairs, 81st Leg., R.S.(April 2, 2009) 
(http://www.senate.state.tx.us/avarchive/?mo=04&yr=2009&lim=50, from 48:30 to 55:05); Debate on Tex. S.B. 
1123 on the Floor of the Senate, 81st Leg., R.S. (April 16, 2009) 
(http://www.senate.state.tx.us/avarchive/?mo=04&yr=2009&lim=50, from 3:15:59 to 6:30:25); Debate on Tex. S.B. 
1123 on the Floor of the Senate, 81st Leg., R.S. (April 20, 2009) 
(http://www.senate.state.tx.us/avarchive/?mo=04&yr=2009&lim=50, from 1:31:29 to 1:36:57). 
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scientifically impossible.    Tex. S.B. 1123, 81st Leg., R.S. (2009) (App. E).  House Bill 

1181 (HB 1181 by Eiland – D., Galveston), which like SB 1123 sought to repeal the 

lower courts’ interpretation of Borg-Warner,  had a hearing in committee, but no vote.  

Tex. H.B. 1811, 81st Leg., R.S. (2009) (App. K).3  Accordingly, neither SB 1123 nor H.B. 

1181 became law.  This Court should grant review of this case, in order to clarify the 

confusion that has led to conflicts in the Courts of Appeal, the concerned interference of 

the Texas legislature, as well as an absolute scientific bar to causation proof in an 

asbestos case. 

The Court of Appeals’ decision eviscerates the asbestos causation standard as 

carefully set forth by this Court in Borg-Warner and continues the conflicting 

interpretations of this decision.4  Plaintiffs pray that the Court grant this Petition for 

Review, clarify the asbestos substantial factor for Texas, and reverse the decision of the 

Court of Appeals. 

II. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

Timothy Bostic was diagnosed with mesothelioma, a fatal asbestos cancer, on 

October 31, 2002, at the age of forty. 7 RR 154; 7 RR 166.  Mesothelioma is a tumor that 

develops in the mesothelial tissue, which is the tissue that lines the body’s organs.  5 RR 

84.  In Timothy Bostic’s case, his mesothelioma developed in the lining around his lungs.  

11 RR 47.  Mesothelioma is known as a “signal” tumor for asbestos exposure, meaning 

                                              
3 See also House Judiciary & Civil Jurisprudence Comm., Witness List, Tex. H.B. 1181, 81st Leg., R.S. (2009) 
(App. L); Tex. House Judiciary & Civil Jurisprudence Comm. Corrected Minutes, 81st Leg., R.S. (March 30, 2009) 
(App. M). 

4 See e.g., Georgia-Pacific v. Stephens, 239 S.W.3d 304 (Tex. App.—Houston [1st Dist.] 2007, pet. denied); Smith 

v. Kelly-Moore Paint Co., Inc., 307 S.W.3d 829 (Tex. App.—Fort Worth 2010, no pet.). 
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that asbestos exposure is an epidemiologically proven cause of mesothelioma.  5 RR 85-

86.  Timothy Bostic died less than one year after his diagnosis, on September 5, 2003. 8 

RR 66.  He was survived by his wife of eighteen years, Susan, his eighteen year-old son, 

Kyle, his father, Harold Bostic, and his mother, Helen Donnahoe. 7 RR 167-8.   

According to the U.S. Department of Labor, “OSHA is aware of no instance in 

which exposure to a toxic substances has more clearly demonstrated detrimental health 

effects on humans than has asbestos exposure.”  PX 2.  OSHA recognizes that the life-

threatening diseases caused by asbestos exposure include lung cancer, cancer of the 

mesothelial lining of the pleura and peritoneum, asbestosis, and gastrointestinal cancer.  

Id.  There is no known safe level of exposure to asbestos.  5 RR 140.   

A. Timothy Bostic’s exposure to asbestos. 

Timothy Bostic’s primary exposures to asbestos were from (i) as a child working 

with his father with and around Georgia-Pacific asbestos joint compound for ten years 

from 1967 to 1977 in Palestine, Texas; (ii) working for three months in the “hot section” 

at a Palestine glass plant (“Knox Glass”) in the early 1980’s; (iii) working for six months 

with gaskets and insulation as a welder’s helper at Palestine Contractors in 1977-78; 

(iv) household exposure to his father’s clothes when he was a child; and (v) limited use of 

brake products.5  7 RR 176-77; 8 RR 21-22; 7 RR 186-88; 12 RR 28-29; 7 RR 18-19; 

DX-33. 

                                              
5 Timothy worked with Athree or four gaskets@ a week and some pipe insulation for six months at Palestine 
Contractors from 1977-78.  8 RR 18-19.  He also estimated that he did about four brake jobs a year helping his 
father.  7 RR 186.  He performed Aless than ten@ clutch jobs in his lifetime.  8 RR 24. 
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After getting his Bachelor=s Degree in 1984, Timothy worked as a correctional 

officer at the Texas Department of Criminal Justice.  7 RR 190.  He retired as Captain of 

the Correctional Officers when he was diagnosed with mesothelioma.  7 RR 190.  There 

is no evidence that he was exposed to asbestos while working at the Texas Department of 

Criminal Justice.   

B. Asbestos joint compound. 

Joint compound is a paste (sometimes called “mud”) used in construction to finish 

out and smooth over gaps between pieces of sheetrock, corners, and nailheads, and for 

smoothing out cracks that occur in walls.  PX 17 at Step 8 (1974 Georgia-Pacific “Do-It 

Yourself” Manual on Gypsum Wallboard Application) (App. N); 10 RR 64-65; PX 26 at 

38790 (App. P) .  Joint compound comes in both dry and pre-mixed formats.  10 RR 64.  

Prior to 1978, some joint compound manufacturers made joint compound by combining 

asbestos with a filler-type material that would harden on the wall, such as a plaster-of-

paris like material called gypsum.  10 RR 64.  Asbestos exposure occurs during the 

mixing, sanding, and clean-up of joint compound.  10 RR 71.  During the time period that 

Timothy Bostic used Georgia-Pacific asbestos joint compound, Georgia-Pacific 

recommended a “minimum” of three coats of asbestos joint compound be applied to all 

taped joints, and sanded after each application.  PX-17 (App. N).   

Georgia-Pacific sold bags of asbestos Triple-Duty dry joint compound, and one 

and five-gallon containers of asbestos pre-mixed Ready-Mix joint compound, from 1965 
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until asbestos joint compound was banned by the United States Government in 1977.6  8 

RR 158-59, 176.  Georgia-Pacific asbestos joint compound contained from two to seven 

percent asbestos.  8 RR 169; PX-33; PX-9.  The bags of Georgia-Pacific Triple Duty 

Joint Compound manufactured in Texas contained seven percent asbestos.7  PX-12.   

Georgia-Pacific’s expert, Dr. Richard Kronenberg, testified that joint compound 

workers were in a trade known generally to be exposed to asbestos, because the asbestos 

in joint compound was friable,8 and not encapsulated, such as in a brake or gasket.  15 

RR 213-14.  In 1977, the Consumer Products Safety Commission (“CPSC”) banned 

asbestos-joint compound for use by consumers on the basis that “[t]hese products present 

an unreasonable risk of injury due to inhalation of fibers which increase the risk of 

developing lung cancer and mesothelioma, diseases which have been demonstrated to be 

caused by exposure to asbestos fibers.”  PX-26 at 38790 (App. P)9; 5 RR 145; 6 RR 11.  

                                              
6 Georgia-Pacific Ready-Mix joint compound contained asbestos until 1977.  8 RR 54.  In 1976, Georgia-Pacific 
stated that it would not market an asbestos-free Ready-Mix until OSHA Astart[s] a vigorous enforcement program . . 
. .@  PX-40.  A March 3, 1977 Georgia-Pacific intracompany memorandum stated: AMy feeling on asbestos remains 
the same: I want to continue to provide an asbestos Ready-Mix as long as possible.@  PX-20.  Georgia-Pacific 
temporarily introduced an asbestos-free bag of joint compound in 1973, but then shortly thereafter reverted back to 
bags of asbestos-containing joint compound.  PX-54.  By 1974, Georgia-Pacific was only Amarket testing, in limited 
markets, a dry asbestos free powder product.@  PX-41.  Over 74 percent of the joint compound shipped by Georgia-
Pacific in 1977 contained asbestos.  9 RR 65.  

7 The cost of shipping played a major role for Georgia-Pacific in Georgia-Pacific's ability to sell the product.  8 RR 
179.  Therefore, the seven percent asbestos joint compound manufactured in Acme, Texas was what was sold to 
consumers of joint compound in Texas.  8 RR 179, PX-12. 

8 This Court noted the potential difference in hazards as between friable and encapsulated asbestos:  “We note, too, 
that proof of causation may differ depending on the product at issue; ‘[i]n some products, the asbestos is embedded 

and fibers are not likely to become loose or airborne, [while] [i]n other products, the asbestos is friable.”  Borg-

Warner, 232 S.W.3d at 773, citing In re Ethyl Corp., 975 S.W.2d 606, 617 (Tex. 1998).  The Consumer Products 
Safety Commission stated that the asbestos in joint compound was “free-form asbestos,” which is “that which is not 

bound, woven, or otherwise ‘locked-in’ to a product by resins or other bonding agents, or those from which fibers 

can readily become airborne with any reasonably foreseeable use.”  PX 26 at 38790 (App. P). 

9 Plaintiff’s Exhibit 26 is the Proposed Rulemaking for the CPSC Ban on Asbestos Joint Compounds.  Respirable 
Free-Form Asbestos, 42 Fed. Reg. 38,782 (proposed July 29, 1977) (to be codified at 16 C.F.R. 1145.4 (1977)) 
(App. P).  The Ban was enacted on December 15, 1977.  See 16 C.F.R. 1145.4 (1977). 
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The CPSC also recognized that children exposed at the same age as Timothy Bostic were 

particularly at risk for exposure to asbestos joint compound.  PX-26 at 38786 (App. P).  

The CPSC concluded:  “Asbestos in the household presents a great risk due to the 

presence in the household of persons, such as children, who may be particularly 

vulnerable to carcinogens.  It is generally observed that, because of the long latency 

period, exposure to inhalable asbestos . . . can be life-shortening for children.”  Id.   

C. Timothy Bostic’s exposures to Georgia-Pacific asbestos joint 

compound. 

The Court of Appeals misstates the evidence in concluding that there is “limited” 

evidence of Timothy Bostic’s exposure to Georgia-Pacific’s asbestos joint compound. 

Bostic, 320 S.W.3d at 588.  Timothy was exposed to Georgia-Pacific asbestos joint 

compound from 1967 to 1977 while working on residential construction with his father.  

7 RR 178.  Timothy testified that he was around joint compound work his Awhole life,@ 

and that his father taught him to work with joint compound when he was Areal young.@  7 

RR 178.  Harold Bostic testified that he used Georgia-Pacific asbestos joint compound 

when working with Timothy for 98 percent of the time, Aor more.@  12 RR 39.  Harold 

Bostic testified that when he was working with Timothy, Georgia-Pacific joint compound 

was Athe No. 1 product.@  12 RR 33.  During the ten-year period from 1967 to 1977, 

Timothy worked with Harold Bostic Aon numerous occasions@ using both dry and Ready-

Mix Georgia-Pacific joint compound.  12 RR 34-36.   

Harold testified that he Aalways had an extra job working for the family,@ that he 

Aworked about six hours a day after my regular job;@ and that he was the family 
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“repairman.”  12 RR 22-23; 83-84.  Harold Bostic testified that he worked with his son 

just about every day from when he was five until the age of ten, and then every weekend 

after that.10 12 RR 136. During this period, Harold testified that Timothy used Georgia-

Pacific asbestos joint compound “many, many times.” 12 RR 137.  Timothy recalled Aas a 

little guy helping him mud the holes . . . .@  7 RR 178.  Timothy recalled observing joint 

compound work prior to the age of ten, and performing it himself ever since.  7 RR 178.  

In fact, Harold testified that “between the time Timmy was five years old until about 15 

or 16 years old,” he could “see him sand . . . that joint compound and breathing in that 

dust.”11 12 RR 141.  Harold testified that use of the Georgia-Pacific joint compound 

created dust, especially during sanding, and that Timothy breathed the dust.  12 RR 35-

36.  When Timothy was five to seven years old, Harold testified that Timothy would help 

mix the asbestos joint compound: A[I]f I was doing sheetrock work, he’d mix the mud,12 

every kid likes mud.  And he’d mix it for me as best he could.  And then I’d have to 

follow him up and get the lumps out.  And then he would spackle as far up as he could 

reach.  I wouldn’t let him get up on the ladder because they’re so dangerous, when he 

was that small.@  12 RR 28.  From the time he was very little, Timothy would help sand 

asbestos joint compound Aas far up as he could reach.@  12 RR 32.   

                                              
10 When Harold and his wife divorced, Timothy was ten years old. 12 RR 26. From that point on, Harold got 
Timothy every weekend and during the summer. 12 RR 26. 

11 Timothy Bostic was also exposed to Georgia-Pacific asbestos joint compound by means of household exposure to 
his father’s clothes. DX-33.  

12 Harold Bostic referred to joint compound as Amud.@  12 RR 28-29. 
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Mesothelioma has a general latency period of thirty to forty years, meaning that 

the cancer will develop almost thirty to forty years after exposure to asbestos.  5 RR 107.  

Timothy Bostic was born in 1962, and was diagnosed with mesothelioma in 2002, at the 

age of 40.  7 RR 166.  Thus, Timothy Bostic’s exposures to Georgia-Pacific asbestos 

joint compound, which occurred up to thirty-five years prior to his diagnosis, were 

directly within the period of exposure that, based on latency calculations, would have 

been extremely significant in the development of his mesothelioma.  Indeed, Georgia-

Pacific’s expert Dr. Richard Kronenberg testified that taking into consideration the 

average latency period for asbestos exposure and mesothelioma, Timothy’s years of 

exposure to asbestos from Georgia-Pacific asbestos joint compound were “extremely 

important in the development of his mesothelioma.” 15 RR 221-22. 

Harold Bostic did not know that Georgia-Pacific asbestos joint compound could 

be hazardous to Timothy=s health, nor did he see any warnings on the Georgia-Pacific 

joint compound.  12 RR 36-37.  Harold stated that if he had known that the Georgia-

Pacific asbestos joint compound that Timothy was using was dangerous and could cause 

harm, he Awouldn=t even have let him in the same building.@  12 RR 60.   

D. Approximate quantum of asbestos fibers released from Georgia-Pacific 

asbestos joint compound. 

Plaintiff’s expert Dr. William Longo tested the amount of asbestos fibers released 

from Georgia-Pacific dry and pre-mixed joint compound while doing the same tasks as 

performed by Harold and Timothy Bostic—mixing, sanding, and sweeping of Georgia-

Pacific asbestos joint compound.  10 RR 73  Dr. Longo has a Ph.D. in Materials Science 
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and Engineering.  10 RR 37, PX-66.  He has studied asbestos products for over twenty-

five years.  10 RR 37.  He developed a protocol for the Environmental Protection Agency 

on how to analyze the amount of asbestos in dust.  10 RR 42.  He also wrote the 

American Society for Testing Material=s dust method for the analytical assessment of 

measuring asbestos dust.  Id.  He is the former chairman of the Transmission Electron 

Microscopy Analytical Committee for the National Asbestos Council, which developed 

measurement methods to analyze asbestos.  Id.  He has published peer-reviewed papers 

on the ability of asbestos products to release asbestos.  Id; see also PX-66.  In order to 

test the amount of asbestos released from asbestos products, Dr. Longo follows OSHA 

and NIOSH protocols for measuring airborne asbestos.  10 RR 59-60.   

Dr. Longo=s tests of the Georgia-Pacific asbestos joint compounds demonstrated 

that persons who mixed, sanded, and cleaned-up Georgia-Pacific asbestos joint 

compound were exposed to levels of asbestos thousands of time higher than the average 

background of asbestos in the air of 0.0005 fibers per cubic centimeter (cc).13  10 RR 

136; 95.  Dr. Longo measured a range of 2.7 to 6.6 fibers per cc when sanding and 4.7 

fibers per cc when cleaning-up Georgia-Pacific Ready-Mix joint compound.  10 RR 84.  

Dr. Longo measured 1.6 fibers per cc when mixing, 1.5 fibers per cc when sanding, and 

1.4 fibers per cc when cleaning-up “dry” Georgia-Pacific asbestos joint compound.14  10 

RR 87.  In addition, Dr. Longo testified that dumping a half a bag of joint compound 

                                              
13The EPA determined that the average background content of asbestos in the air is 0.0005 fibers per cc.  10 RR 95.  

14The measurements of the dry bag of asbestos were lower than the Ready-Mix, because Dr. Longo only measured 

nine linear feet of product from the dry bag. 10 RR 87.  In other words, the less product that is used, the less 

asbestos dust will be released into the air. 
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released asbestos levels of 25 to 50 fibers per cc.  10 RR 112.  The peer-reviewed, 

published literature shows that exposures to asbestos from joint compound work is 

comparable to the asbestos exposures of asbestos insulators, with a mean exposure to 

asbestos of 10 fibers per cc.15  5 RR 129, 140-41.   

Dr. William Longo calculated that in a twenty-five pound bag of Georgia-Pacific 

joint compound containing five percent asbestos, there would be 567,500,000 

micrograms of asbestos per bag, which equals 11.4 quadrillion asbestos fibers.  10 RR 

108-10.   

E. Georgia-Pacific sold asbestos joint compound despite the fact that it 

knew asbestos joint compound caused cancer. 

Timothy Bostic worked with and around Georgia-Pacific asbestos joint compound 

from 1967-1977.16  By 1965, the year that Georgia-Pacific began selling asbestos joint 

compound, there were over a thousand publications in the literature discussing asbestos-

related disease.  6 RR 9.  In 1966, the Gypsum Association, of which Georgia-Pacific 

                                              
15See Rohl et al, Exposure to Asbestos in the Use of Consumer Spackling, Patching and Taping Compounds, 
SCIENCE, vol. 189, no. 4204 (Aug. 15, 1975) (measuring Asignificant@ exposure to asbestos up to 45 fibers per cc for 
joint compounds containing 5 to 12 percent asbestos by weight).  7 RR 31, 62-64.  See also Stern, et al., Mortality 
Among Unionized Construction Plasterers and Cement Masons, AM. J. IND. MED., vol. 39, no. 4 (April 2001) 
(finding that asbestos fiber concentrations generated by sanding asbestos joint compound were similar to those 
measured in the work environment of asbestos insulation workers who had a seven fold increase in risk of cancer of 
the lung and the pleura); Fischbein, et al., Drywall Construction and Asbestos Exposure, AM. INDUS. HYG. ASSOC. 
J., vol. 40, no. 5, at 402-07 (1979) (finding that asbestos joint compound workers have a significant risk of exposure 
to asbestos, and Aasbestos disease is an important hazard in this trade.@); Nicholson, Occupational and Community 
Asbestos Exposure from Wallboard Finishing Compounds, BULL. N.Y. ACAD. MED., vol. 51, no. 10, at 1180 (1975) 
(showing x-ray abnormalities in 37 of the 63 joint compound workers who had ten or more years exposure to 
asbestos joint compound); Verma & Middleton, Occupational Exposure to Asbestos in the Drywall Taping Process, 
AM. INDUS. HYG. ASSOC. J., vol. 41, no. 4, at 264-69 (1980) (finding that joint compound workers are 
Aoccupationally exposed to potentially hazardous asbestos dust concentration in their work . . .[A] person engaged in 
mixing, sanding and sweeping of asbestos-containing compound should wear an approved respiratory device.@)  5 
RR 129-39.   

16 His father also took him to his construction sites while Timothy Bostic was a baby prior to 1967, and set him up in 
a swing to watch the work.  15 RR 77. 
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was a member, informed its members that A[g]overnment investigations indicate the 

possibility of the use of asbestos as a cause of lung disease in industry.  Payment of 

claims arising from this could cost our industry many dollars unless counter action is 

taken.@  6 RR 27; PX-5.  In 1967, Georgia-Pacific was present at a Gypsum Association 

meeting where it was noted that inhabitants of a neighborhood surrounding an asbestos 

plant were getting lung carcinomas.  6 RR 28-29; PX-6.  In 1970, the Georgia-Pacific 

Safety Supervisor wrote an intra-office memorandum advising that the Mount Sinai 

Hospital had found a spot on the lung of a man who did joint sanding on the job, and 

warned that Athe drywall industry might be on the next targets for their lung research.@  

PX-8.   

In 1970, Georgia-Pacific wrote to the Gypsum Association that A[a]sbestos is very 

harmful.@  6 RR 33-34; PX-9.  To avoid the cost of future product liability claims, 

Georgia-Pacific suggested placing blame on contractors (which would include persons 

such as Harold and Timothy Bostic): AWe realize that someone will be the whipping boy.  

Also, product liability will be stressed.  It is our opinion that the entire blame can be 

placed on the contractor for not insisting on respirators and dust masks while sanding.@ 6 

RR 34; PX-9.  In 1971, the National Gypsum Company wrote to the President of 

Georgia-Pacific: AOur tests indicate that sanding of joint treatment products . . . offer 

some substantial potential hazards.@  6 RR 36; PX-11.  In 1972, the Texas State 

Department of Health wrote to the plant manager of the Georgia-Pacific plant in Acme, 

Texas that Aasbestos has recently been recognized as one of the more dangerous 

pneumoconiosis producing substances,@ Awith indisputable evidence connecting asbestos 
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exposure to increased probability of lung cancers and mesotheliomas . . . .@ 6 RR 37-38; 

PX-12.  

As of 1972, federal law required that asbestos warning labels be placed on 

asbestos products.  5 RR 23; PX-4.  On April 11, 1973, almost a year after OSHA 

promulgated these regulations, Georgia-Pacific stated AIn view of the OSHA regulations, 

we believe it is in our best interest to begin marking our bags of joint compound which 

contain asbestos fiber.@  7 RR 65; PX-13; 9 RR 93.  However, Georgia-Pacific 

determined that there was no need to begin labeling its Ready-Mix joint compound in 

compliance with OSHA at that time.  7 RR 65-66; PX-13.  In 1974, OSHA issued a 

citation to the Acme, Texas plant for not labeling one-gallon cans of asbestos Ready-Mix 

joint compound.  6 RR 48; PX-18.  

Georgia-Pacific did not warn its consumers that respirators should be worn while 

sanding, despite its knowledge that respirators were necessary to avoid inhaling the 

hazardous asbestos dust. 17  In 1974, Georgia-Pacific produced a manual on asbestos joint 

compounds, with a picture of a father working while the son mixed the joint compound 

on the front cover.  PX-17 (App. N).  The manual was Adesigned for the average 

homeowner who=s involved in a home-improvement project.@  6 RR 44; PX-17.  The 

manual recommended sanding the joint compound after application, a task that Georgia-

Pacific knew would create unsafe levels of asbestos dust.  6 RR 40; PX-17.  Georgia-

                                              
17 On May 13, 1974, Mr. Burch, the head of sales for Georgia-Pacific, wrote to all Georgia-Pacific Gypsum Sales 
Managers: A[W]e do know that the dust level in the mixing and sanding of joint compounds is sufficiently high that 
respirators should be worn . . . . Respirators should be worn while sanding.@  PX-41. 
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Pacific placed no warnings in this manual as to the hazards of asbestos dust, nor did it 

advise that users of the asbestos joint compound use respirators.  6 RR 40; 44; PX-17.  

In May 17, 1974, Eugene Burch, head of sales for Georgia-Pacific, reported to Mr. 

Wilson, the head of the Georgia-Pacific Gypsum Division, that there were 17 actual cases 

of fibrosis in the lungs of members of the New York local painters union who performed 

work with asbestos joint compound.  9 RR 95-96.  Mr. Burch=s report stated: ATaping and 

spackling compounds used in drywall finishing may expose workers to dangerous levels 

of asbestos fibers, according to OSHA officials.@  9 R 97.   Despite having seen actual 

cases of asbestos-related disease, in 1977 Mr. Burch advised a customer concerned with 

the welfare of his children that there were no dangers from using asbestos joint 

compound.  9 RR 98-99; PX 22, 23.  He told the customer that Athere was no known case 

of harm@ from asbestos.  9 RR 98.  

In 1975, Georgia-Pacific calculated that it could make more profits by selling 

asbestos joint compound than asbestos-free joint compound:   

We are benefitting from various manufacturers attempting to get asbestos 
free ready mix into the market.  Eventually the others will probably find a 
way to make it and make it acceptable but the damage will already been 
done and they=ll have no business.  Let=s keep this in mind when we come 
to ours and not market an asbestos free type . . . 

PX-19.   

On April 28, 1977, Georgia-Pacific received notice that the CPSC had voted 

unanimously to ban the use of asbestos joint compounds.  6 RR 45-46; PX-21.  On 

August 3, 1977, the President of Georgia-Pacific urged the branches to expel their 

inventories of asbestos joint compounds:   
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You=re probably aware, but in case you have not been advised, the [CPSC] 
has finally published in the federal register the proposed rule making for 
joint cement products containing asbestos . . . This means we have roughly 
45 to 60 days to dispose of our inventories of joint cement containing 
asbestos.  It would seem appropriate that the branches should be advised of 
the need to expel their inventories of asbestos joint compound as soon as 
possible. 

PX-43; 9 RR 114-15. 

F. The Court of Appeals misstates the evidence as to the Knox Glass 

exposures. 

The Court of Appeals misstates the facts in claiming that Timothy was exposed to 

asbestos for three full summers at Knox Glass, from 1980 to 1982.  Bostic, 320 S.W.3d at 

594.  Timothy had two different responsibilities at Knox Glass: in the “cold end” of the 

plant he made boxes, packed glass, and performed janitor work; and in the “hot end” he 

was exposed to asbestos while he performed mechanic work and clean-up. 7 RR 172.  Of 

the three summers he worked at Knox Glass, Timothy estimated that he spent an 

aggregate of only three months in the hot end, which would mean only one summer of 

work around asbestos-containing products. 8 RR 42.  Rather than viewing the evidence in 

a light most favorable to Plaintiffs, the Court of Appeals instead states that Plaintiffs 

“seek to narrow the time period of exposure to asbestos and asbestos-containing products 

to three months by asserting that to be the cumulative amount of time that Timothy 

worked in the hot end of the plant.”  Bostic, 320 S.W.3d at 594 note 7 (emphasis added).  

In fact, Timothy himself testified that he only worked for three months in the hot end.  8 

RR 42.  In addition, Harold Bostic, Timothy’s father, testified that Timothy would only 

cut asbestos-cloth in the “hot end.”  12 RR 63.  Georgia-Pacific’s expert, Dr. Richard 
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Kronenberg, who is board certified in internal medicine and pulmonary disease,18 and 

who performed a medical study of the Knox Glass workers, testified that Timothy 

Bostic’s  exposure to asbestos at Knox Glass would be “on really the extreme low end of 

exposure for the folks out at the glass plant.”  15 RR 218-19.   

The Court of Appeals also errs in stating that Timothy and his father “underwent 

testing to determine whether they had contracted an asbestos-related disease a result of 

working at Knox Glass . . .”  Bostic, 320 S.W.3d at 594, note 6.  In fact, Dr. Kronenberg, 

who performed the test, and found both chrysotile and amphibole fibers in Timothy 

Bostic’s lungs,19 testified that there was no way to determine which occupational 

exposures these fibers came from, and thus it was error to ascribe these fibers solely to 

Knox Glass.  15 RR 224.   

G. Plaintiffs did not rely on the “each and every exposure” theory to 

prove substantial factor causation.  

The Court of Appeals errs by holding that the “each and every exposure theory” is 

the methodology that the experts used in determining whether the exposure from 

Georgia-Pacific’s asbestos joint compound was a substantial contributing factor.  Bostic, 

320 S.W.3d at 598 (“We agree with Georgia-Pacific’s assertion that appellees did not 

establish substantial-factor causation to the extent they improperly based their showing of 

specific causation on their expert’s testimony and the testimony of Dr. Kronenberg that 

each and every exposure to asbestos caused or contributed to cause Timothy’s 

mesothelioma.”)  

                                              
18 15 RR 185. 

19 15 RR 199. 
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In a persistent disregard for basic scientific principles, the Court of Appeals fails 

to recognize the difference between (i) the scientific tenet—adopted by both Plaintiffs’ 

and Georgia-Pacific’s experts—that every fiber inhaled necessarily contributes to an 

individual’s aggregate fiber burden; and (ii) the analysis performed as to the frequency, 

regularity, and proximity of Timothy Bostic’s Georgia-Pacific asbestos joint compound 

exposure.  Indeed, Georgia-Pacific’s expert in industrial hygiene, Dr. William Dyson, 

testified that “by definition” each and every exposure increases one’s lifetime total dose.  

15 RR 90.  Georgia-Pacific’s expert in internal medicine and pulmonology, Dr. Richard 

Kronenberg, testified:  “Asbestos diseases are—are—result from a total accumulated 

exposure over a lifetime, and any—any exposure contributes.”  15 RR 205.  That this 

principle exists, however, does not mean that the experts in this case relied on the theory 

that “every fiber” is a substantial contributing factor.  Indeed, the opposite is true. 

Dr. Samuel Hammar is a board certified pathologist who has specialized in 

anatomic, clinical, and experimental pathology for over thirty-one years.  11 RR 9.  He is 

the co-editor of a textbook entitled PULMONARY PATHOLOGY, which is in every medical 

library in the United States.20  11 RR 18.  He is the author of approximately forty peer-

reviewed articles on the subject of asbestos and mesothelioma.  11 RR 21.  He is also the 

co-author of the book ASBESTOS: RISK ASSESSMENT, EPIDEMIOLOGY, AND HEALTH 

EFFECTS, which addresses the diseases that asbestos can cause, as well as technical 

                                              
20See PULMONARY PATHOLOGY (David Dail & Samuel P. Hammar, eds., 1994). 
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aspects of asbestos related medicine.@21  11 RR 22.  He has been a member for seventeen 

years of the U.S.-Canadian Mesothelioma Panel, which is a panel of twelve experts in 

mesothelioma who review and confirm diagnoses of mesothelioma made by other 

pathologists.  Georgia-Pacific=s expert, Dr. Feingold, testified that Dr. Hammar is a 

Aworld renowned pathologist.@  13 RR 162.   

Dr. Hammar analyzed the mathematical threshold of asbestos exposure leading to 

an increased risk of mesothelioma, and testified that Timothy Bostic=s ten year exposure 

to Georgia-Pacific asbestos joint compound would have been enough in and of itself to 

cause his mesothelioma.  11 RR 49.  Specifically, contrary to the court of appeal’s 

assertion that Dr. Hammar relied on the “each and every exposure theory” to opine that 

the Georgia-Pacific asbestos joint compound was a substantial contributing factor, 

Dr. Hammar testified that 0.1 fiber/cc years is the minimum threshold of asbestos 

exposure that will lead to an increased risk of mesothelioma.22 Dr. Hammar testified 

Timothy Bostic=s Aprimary occupational exposure was . . . in the construction industry.@  

11 RR 48.  Dr. Hammar stated that if Timothy Bostic had ten years of asbestos exposure 

from Georgia-Pacific asbestos joint compound, and three summers of potential exposure 

at Knox Glass, it does not Amake common sense to ignore the exposure to Georgia-

Pacific products.@  11 RR 140.  Dr. Hammar testified that Timothy Bostic was exposed to 

                                              
21See ASBESTOS: RISK ASSESSMENT, EPIDEMIOLOGY, AND HEALTH EFFECTS (Ronald F. Dodson and Samuel P. 
Hammer, eds. 2005).  

22 Dr. Hammar testified that 0.1 fibers/cc of asbestos exposure gives rise to an increased risk of seven cases per 
100,000.  11 RR 37.  Given that the expected is one case per million persons, that is a 70 times increased rate of 
death at an exposure of 0.1 fiber per cc/year.  11 RR 37. 



 19  

enough Georgia-Pacific asbestos joint compound to, in and of itself, have caused his 

mesothelioma: 

Q. Was Timothy Bostic exposed at high enough levels, to your 
knowledge, in doing this drywall work, in mixing, sanding, and cleaning up 
of drywall materials sufficient to cause the disease mesothelioma? 

A. Yes. 

11 RR 49. 

Additionally, Georgia-Pacific’s expert, pulmonary physician Dr. Richard Kronenberg, 

testified that “Timothy Bostic’s exposure to drywall products containing asbestos as a 

young person played a significant contributing factor in the development of his 

mesothelioma.” 15 RR 221.   

Yet instead of acknowledging this testimony, let alone viewing it in a light most 

favorable to Plaintiffs, the Court of Appeals draws the incorrect conclusion that 

Plaintiffs’ experts testified that the Georgia-Pacific asbestos joint compound exposure 

was a substantial contributing factor based on the “every fiber” contributes theory, as 

opposed to considering Timothy Bostic’s frequency, regularity, and proximity of 

exposure to Georgia-Pacific asbestos joint compound.  In so doing, the Court of Appeals 

misstates the evidence. 

Finally, Timothy Bostic was between 5-15 years old at the time of his exposure to 

Georgia-Pacific asbestos joint compound.  Both Plaintiffs and Georgia-Pacific’s experts 

testified that children are more susceptible than adults to the impact of environmental 

toxins.  4 RR 149-50; 5 RR 101; 13 RR 216-17.   
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III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

This Court’s 2007 decision in Borg-Warner v. Flores addressed a fact scenario in 

which it was highly disputed whether the plaintiff’s lung scarring was an asbestos 

disease; none of the plaintiff’s experts had ever studied the specific asbestos brake 

product at issue; and it was unclear what indeterminate amount of time that the plaintiff 

had worked with the defendant’s asbestos brake products, as opposed to a multitude of 

other exposures.  Borg Warner, 232 S.W.3d at 771-772.  Faced with these facts, this 

Court held that evidence of “some” exposure to asbestos is not enough, and that in order 

to prove causation in an asbestos case, the plaintiff must prove that exposure to the 

defendant’s product was a “substantial contributing factor” towards the plaintiff’s 

asbestos disease.  Id. at 773.    

Since 2007, the misapplication of and confusion surrounding this Court’s holding 

in Borg-Warner has resulted in an absolute bar to proving causation in an asbestos case, 

conflicts among the Courts of Appeals as to what is required to prove causation in an 

asbestos case, and even the introduction of bills in the Texas House and Senate that 

would repeal the lower courts’ various and divergent interpretations of Borg-Warner.23  

In this case, the Court of Appeals has so distorted this Court’s holding in Borg-Warner as 

to make it scientifically impossible to prove causation in an asbestos case, even where, as 

here, the individual has a cancer that is known as a signature cancer for asbestos 

exposure—mesothelioma.  Accordingly, this Court should grant review of this case in 

order to clarify the asbestos causation standard.   

                                              
23 See supra notes 1-3 and text accompanying. 
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In this case, the Court of Appeals erred by holding that Plaintiffs must in essence 

trace the asbestos fiber from the Georgia-Pacific asbestos joint compound to Timothy 

Bostic=s cancer in order to show Abut for@ causation, which is not only scientifically 

impossible, but also contrary to this Court=s holding in Borg-Warner.  The Court of 

Appeals further erred in failing to apply the well-settled standard for Ano evidence@ 

review, and instead discredited all evidence favorable to Plaintiffs, and adopted only 

those points elicited by Georgia-Pacific on cross-examination.  Additionally, the Court of 

Appeals ignored this Court=s admonishment in Borg-Warner that the level of proof 

necessary to prove substantial factor causation in an asbestos case may vary based on the 

type of product and disease at issue.  Here, in contradiction to Borg-Warner, the Court of 

Appeals failed to modify the level of proof necessary to show substantial factor 

causation, where Timothy Bostic was exposed to highly friable asbestos from joint 

compound, and where Timothy=s disease—mesothelioma—is caused by extremely low 

levels of exposure to asbestos.  Finally, the Court of Appeals incorrectly required that 

Plaintiffs calculate the dose of asbestos actually inhaled from Georgia-Pacific’s product 

in order to show substantial factor causation, even though this is (i) not scientifically 

possible; and (ii) not required under Borg-Warner.     

The erroneous interpretation of this Court=s holding in Borg-Warner will continue 

to place an insurmountable bar to proving asbestos causation and perpetrate widespread 

confusion and injustice, which the plain language of Borg-Warner reveals that this Court 

did not intend.  Plaintiffs pray that this Court grant this Petition for Review, clarify the 

asbestos causation standard, and reverse the decision of the Court of Appeals. 
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IV. ARGUMENT 

A. Borg-Warner v. Flores requires “substantial factor” causation, not “but 

for” causation. 

In a toxic tort case, the plaintiff must show both general and specific causation.  

See Merrell Dow Pharms. v. Havner, 953 S.W.2d 706, 714-15, 720 (Tex. 1997).  

“General causation is whether a substance is capable of causing a particular injury or 

condition in the general population, while specific causation is whether a substance 

caused a particular individual’s injury.”  Havner, 953 S.W. 2d at 714.  Here, as noted by 

the Court of Appeals, Georgia-Pacific does not contest general causation—e.g. Georgia-

Pacific does not contest that asbestos exposure from Georgia-Pacific asbestos joint 

compound can cause mesothelioma.  Bostic, 320 S.W.3d at 595.  Rather, Georgia-Pacific 

contests specific causation—e.g. whether Timothy Bostic’s exposure to Georgia-Pacific’s 

asbestos joint compound was a cause of Timothy Bostic’s mesothelioma.  Id.   

Thus, critical to this analysis is how this Court has defined specific causation in 

the context of an asbestos case.  In Borg-Warner v. Flores, this Court concluded that 

exposure to Asome@ respirable fibers is not sufficient to show that asbestos was a 

substantial factor in causing asbestosis.  Borg-Warner, 232 S.W.3d at 766.  In Borg-

Warner, Plaintiff Arturo Flores, a mechanic, was alleged to suffer from asbestosis 

scarring, a disease which this Court recognized is Ausually observed in individuals who 

have had many years of high-level exposure, typically asbestos miners and millers, 

asbestos textile workers, and asbestos insulators.@  Id. at 771.  While this Court 

understood that Mr. Flores was exposed to Asome asbestos,@ there was no approximate 
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quantum of his total amount of asbestos exposure sufficient to conclude whether he had 

enough exposure to cause his alleged disease, nor was there evidence of what percentage 

of his exposure came from Borg-Warner products, the defendant in the case.  See id. at 

771-72.  Indeed, it was hotly contested at trial whether Mr. Flores even suffered from 

asbestosis scarring.  See id. at 766.  (Mr. Flores, who had a 50-pack/-year smoking 

history, had a chief medical complaint at the time of trial of shortness of breath, which he 

testified manifested itself after he had been mowing the lawn for 35-40 minutes.  See id. 

at 768). Thus, in Borg-Warner, this Court stated that in determining whether a 

defendant’s asbestos product was a cause of the plaintiff’s disease, Mr. Flores’ 

“indeterminate exposure” was not sufficient, and the appropriate specific causation test in 

an asbestos case is the substantial factor test:  “In asbestos cases, then, we must determine 

whether the asbestos in the defendant’s product was a substantial factor in bringing about 

the plaintiff’s injuries.”  Borg-Warner, 232 S.W.3d at 770.   

1. Borg-Warner does not require proof of “but for” causation. 

The Court of Appeals erred in holding that Borg-Warner requires proof that (i) an 

asbestos product is a Asubstantial factor@ in causing the plaintiff=s disease, and that (ii) the 

asbestos product is the “but for” cause of the disease, meaning that here the plaintiff must 

show that the exposure to Georgia-Pacific’s asbestos fibers was the event “without which 

the [mesothelioma] would not have occurred.”  See Bostic, 320 S.W.3d at 597.  In its 

attempt to graft “but for” causation onto the “substantial factor” test established by Borg-

Warner, the Court of Appeals actually misquotes this Court by adding Abut for@ language 

where there was none:  A>In asbestos cases, then, we must determine whether the asbestos 
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in the defendant=s product was a substantial factor in bringing about the plaintiff=s 

injuries= and without which the injuries would not have occurred.@  Id. (quoting from 

Borg-Warner as to substantial factor, but adding the additional language Aand without 

which the injuries would have occurred.@).  Therefore, the Court of Appeals erroneously 

concludes that because Plaintiff’s expert Dr. Hammar could not state that Timothy Bostic 

would not have developed mesothelioma “absent exposure to Georgia-Pacific asbestos-

containing joint compound,” Plaintiffs’ “evidence is insufficient to satisfy the required 

substantial-factor causation element for maintaining this negligence and product liability 

suit.”  Bostic, 320 S.W.3d at 596-597.   

The Court of Appeals therefore requires a scientifically impossible proposition—

that proof of causation in an asbestos case requires tracing the fibers from the defendant=s 

product to the individual’s disease, in order to show that Abut for@ the exposure to 

defendant=s product, the individual would not have developed the disease.  This 

conclusion ignores this Court=s plain language in Borg-Warner admonishing such a 

requirement, and the basic principles of medicine and science, which state that it is not 

currently knowable which fibers in a neoplastic process ultimately cause the cancer.  

Dr. Hammar explained that in a person with exposure to different asbestos products, one 

cannot isolate the exposure which was the cause of the mesothelioma: 

Q. Is joint compound an exposure in this case you can say without it he 
would never have developed mesothelioma? 

 
A.  No, I don=t think you can do that.  I don=t think you can do that for 

probably any exposure that was a legitimate exposure. 
11 RR 139. 
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Georgia-Pacific’s expert Dr. Richard Kronenberg concurred that a scientist cannot isolate 

any one exposure as the sole cause of a person’s mesothelioma.  15 RR 222.   

In Borg-Warner, this Court recognized the scientific impossibility of proving “but 

for” causation in asbestos cases.  Specifically, this Court acknowledged Athe proof 

difficulties accompanying asbestos claims.  The long latency period for asbestos-related 

diseases, coupled with the inability to trace precisely which fibers caused disease and 

from whose product they emanated, make this process inexact.@  Borg-Warner, 232 

S.W.3d at 773, citing Rutherford v. Owens-Illinios, Inc., 16 Cal. 4th 953, 67 Cal. Rptr.2d 

16, 941 P.2d 1203, 1219 (Cal. 1997).  That the substantial factor test does not incorporate 

“but for” causation is exemplified by this Court’s citation to Rutherford v. Owens-Illinois, 

Inc., 941 P.2d 1203, 1219 (Cal. 1997). Rutherford emphasizes that substantial factor 

causation does not encompass the scientifically impossible “but for” standard in an 

asbestos case: 

Plaintiffs cannot be expected to prove the scientifically unknown details of 
carcinogenesis, or trace the unknowable path of a given asbestos fiber . . . 
[W]e can bridge this gap in the humanly knowable by holding that plaintiffs 
may prove causation in asbestos-related cancer cases by demonstrating that 
the plaintiff=s exposure to defendant=s asbestos-containing product in 
reasonable medical probability was a substantial factor in contributing to 
the aggregate dose of asbestos the plaintiff or decedent inhaled or ingested, 
and hence to the risk of developing asbestos-related cancer, without the 
need to demonstrate that the fibers from the defendant=s particular product 
were the ones, or among the ones, that actually produced the malignant 
growth. 24 

                                              
24 This Court=s recognition that “but for” causation is not required in an asbestos case where multiple products 
may combine to cause a Plaintiff's disease, and where it is unknowable which fiber was Athe one@ that produced 
the malignant growth, is affirmed by the RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF TORTS.  The comments to the Restatement 
explain that factual causation may be satisfied when multiple actors combine together to produce a harm, even 
when the actions of each individual actor are not sufficient in and of themselves to have caused the harm:  
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Borg-Warner, 232 S.W.3d at 773, quoting Rutherford, 941 P.2d. at 1219 (emphasis 

added); see also Jones v. John Crane, 35 Cal. Rptr. 3d 144, 149 n. 3 (Cal. Ct. App. 2005) 

(holding that Rutherford requires proof that an individual asbestos-containing product is a 

substantial factor contributing to the plaintiff’s risk or probability of developing cancer, 

but not “but for” causation). 

Thus in Borg-Warner, this Court recognized the scientific impossibility of proving 

that asbestos fibers from a particular product were the Abut for@ nexus for the plaintiff=s 

disease. 25  See id.  This holding comports with this Court’s earlier toxic tort decision in 

Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals v. Havner, 953 S.W.2d 706, 718 (Tex. 1997).  In Havner, 

this Court grappled with the issue of general causation in a toxic tort case, and 

specifically, whether there was sufficient evidence that the drug Bendectin caused birth 

defects if ingested during pregnancy.  See id. at 708.   This Court concluded that there is a 

difference between the “needs of our legal system” and “the limits of science,” in that 

epidemiological studies showing an increase in the risk of developing a disease by 

studying exposed populations cannot, by definition, pinpoint “the actual cause of a given 

individual’s disease or condition.”  Havner, 953 S.W.3d at 718. This Court determined 

                                                                                                                                                  
 

Able, Baker, and Charlie, acting independently but simultaneously, each negligently lean on 
Paul's car, which is parked at a scenic overlook at the edge of the mountain.  Their combined 
force results in the car rolling over the edge of a diminutive curbstone and plummeting down 
the mountain to its destruction.  The force exerted by each of Able, Baker, and Charlie would 
have been insufficient to propel Paul's car past the curbstone, but the combined force of any 
two of them is sufficient.  Able, Baker, and Charlie are each a factual cause of the destruction 
of Paul's car. 

 
RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF TORTS, ' 27, cmt f, Illus. 3.   

25 See also 63 AM. JUR. 2d Prods. Liab. § 27  (2010) (“In concurrent cause situations in which any one concurrent 

cause operating alone could have produced the harm, however, “but for” causation is not a necessary element of 

“substantial factor” causation, and the “substantial factor” test is truly a substitute test.”)  
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that the proper balance between the limits of science and the need to show cause-in-fact 

could be resolved by requiring the plaintiff to prove general causation through 

epidemiological studies:   

We recognize, as does the federal Reference Manual on Scientific Evidence, 
that a disease or condition either is or is not caused by exposure to a 
suspected agent and that frequency data, such as the incidence of adverse 
effects in the general population when exposed, cannot indicate the actual 
cause of a given individual’s disease or condition.  But the law must 
balance the need to compensate those who have been injured by the 
wrongful action of another with the concept deeply imbedded in our 
jurisprudence that a defendant cannot be found liable for an injury unless 
the preponderance of the evidence supports cause in fact.  The use of 
scientifically reliable epidemiological studies and the requirement of more 
than a doubling of the risk strikes a balance between the needs of our legal 
system and the limits of science.   

Id. (citations omitted).   

Therefore, central to this Court’s causation jurisprudence is a recognition that in 

toxic tort cases, where “actual” cause cannot be determined, the Court must strike a 

balance between the limits of science and the requirement that the preponderance of the 

evidence supports cause-in-fact.  In Borg-Warner, this Court struck the balance with 

respect to specific causation in asbestos cases by holding that the plaintiff must show that 

the defendant’s asbestos product was a “substantial factor” in causing the disease, 

“without the need to demonstrate that fibers from the defendant’s particular product were 

the ones, or among the ones, that actually produced the malignant growth.”  Borg-

Warner, 232 S.W.3d at 773, citing Rutherford v. Owens-Illinois, Inc., 941 P.2d 1203, 

1219 (Cal. 1997).    
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2. The substantial factor test is a different test than “but for” causation. 

The confusion inherent in the Court of Appeals’ analysis stems from a 

misunderstanding of the distinct differences as between a “but for” analysis and the 

“substantial factor” test.  The Court of Appeals erred in holding that Borg-Warner 

requires proof of “but for” causation in addition to substantial factor causation.  Bostic, 

320 S.W.3d at 597.  The substantial factor test is a separate test from “but for” causation.  

See Union Pump v. Allbritton, 898 S.W.2d 773, 776-77 (Tex. 1995), and is not a part of 

the causation analysis required by this Court in asbestos cases.  

As this Court explained in Union Pump, the requirement of “substantial factor” 

stems from the concept of “legal cause,” which means that it is not enough to “create a 

condition” which then gives rise to the injury.  Union Pump, 898 S.W.2d at 776.  The 

connection between the defendant and the plaintiff’s injuries simply may be too 

attenuated to constitute legal cause.  Lear Siegler, Inc. v. Perez, 819 S.W.2d 470, 472 

(Tex. 1991).  “Legal cause is not established if the defendant’s conduct or product does 

no more than furnish the condition that makes the plaintiff’s injury possible.”  Union 

Pump, 898 S.W.2d at 776, quoting Lear Siegler, 819 S.W.2d at 472.  Thus, in the seminal 

case Palsgraf v. Long Island Railroad Co., 248 N.Y. 339, 162 N.E. 99 (N.Y. 1928), 

where a man carrying a package tried to board a train, jumped aboard a car, was assisted 

by two guards but in the course of which dropped his package, the package fell on the 

rails and exploded, and the shock of the explosion threw down some scales at the other 

end of the platform, striking Mrs. Palgraf, the court held that the action of the guards was 

too remote from the resultant injury to Mrs. Palsgraf to hold that the railroad violated a 
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duty to her, despite the fact that “but for” the action of the guards, the package would not 

have fallen and in turn caused the scales to fall on Mrs. Palsgraf.  Id. at 100.  In his 

dissent, cited in Union Pump, Judge Andrews stated that the decision should turn not on 

duty but on proximate cause:  “What we do mean by ‘proximate’ is that, because of 

convenience, of public policy, of a rough sense of justice, the law arbitrarily declines to 

trace a series of events beyond a certain point.”  Id. at 103 (Andrews, J., dissenting). 

Thus, in our jurisprudence, it is the substantial factor test that protects against 

those circumstances where “the defendant’s conduct or product does no more than 

furnish the condition that makes the plaintiff’s injury possible,” and instead requires that 

the “defendant’s conduct has such an effect in producing the harm as to lead reasonable 

men to regard it as a cause . . . .”  Union Pump, 898 S.W.2d at 776, quoting 

RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 431 cmt. a (1965); see also Lear Siegler, Inc. v. 

Perez, 819 S.W.2d 470, 472 (Tex. 1991).  Section 431 cmt. a of the RESTATEMENT 

(SECOND) OF TORTS states the same principles as reiterated by this Court in Union Pump 

and Borg-Warner:  that “substantial factor” requires that the “defendant’s conduct has 

such an effect in producing the harm as to lead reasonable men to regard it as a cause . . . 

.”  Id. Therefore, when the RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS states that it is “necessary, 

but it is not of itself sufficient” that “the harm would not have occurred had the actor not 

been negligent,” the authors are making the same distinction as was set forth in Palsgraf, 

Union Pump, and Lear Siegler:  it is not enough to “furnish the condition” that gives rise 

to the plaintiff’s injury; rather, to be a legal cause, it must also be a “substantial factor.” 

The authors of the RESTATEMENT (SECOND) are not stating that the “but for” test is the 
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same test as substantial contributing factor.  Quite the opposite, they are stating that the 

“substantial factor” test adds additional requirements—a “rough sense of justice”—

beyond that found in “but for” causation.   

By requiring proof of “substantial factor” causation but not “but for” causation in 

an asbestos case, this Court has struck a careful balance, as it did in Havner, between the 

limits of science and the requirements of our jurisprudence that the “defendant’s conduct 

has such an effect in producing the harm as to lead reasonable men to regard it as a cause 

. . . .”  Union Pump, 898 S.W.2d at 776.  That is, this Court requires proof of the 

“frequency, regularity, and proximity” of the exposure to the asbestos product, as well as 

the approximate quantum of asbestos fibers from the asbestos product to which the 

individual was exposed, in order that the jury may determine whether this sufficiently 

contributed to the individual’s aggregate dose of asbestos, such that it could be 

considered a substantial factor in causing the plaintiff’s disease.26  Borg-Warner, 232 

S.W.3d at 772.  Therefore, when this Court states in Borg-Warner that Texas 

jurisprudence requires more than the Lorhmann “frequency, regularity, and proximity” 

test, and also requires the “substantial factor test,” this Court is not adding to asbestos 

                                              
26 This Court explains that evidence of substantial factor causation was missing from Mr. Flores’ proof:  “Thus, 

while some respirable fibers may be released upon grinding some brake pads, the sparse record here contains no 
evidence of the approximate quantum of Borg-Warner fibers to which Flores was exposed, and whether this 
sufficiently contributed to the aggregate dose of asbestos Flores inhaled, such that it could be considered a 
substantial factor in causing his asbestosis.”  Borg-Warner, 232 S.W.3d at 772, citing Union Pump, 898 S.W.2d at 
775. 
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cases the requirement of “but for” causation.27  Borg-Warner, 232 S.W.3d at 770 

(quoting Lohrmann v. Pittsburgh Corning Corp., 782 F.2d 1156, 1162 (4th Cir. 1986)).  

Instead of recognizing this Court’s precedent and the careful balance this Court 

struck between science and legal causation, the Court of Appeals instead cites to this 

Court’s decision in Ford Motor Co. v. Ledesma, 242 S.W.3d 32, 46 (Tex. 2007), in which 

this Court held producing cause must include “but for” causation in the context of a car 

wreck case.  In such an instance, where there are no scientific barriers to showing the 

chain of events that started a wreck—e.g. did the rear axle detach before the accident and 

cause Mr. Ledesma to lose control of his truck—it is necessary to show that there was an 

unbroken chain in the link of causal events.28  Id.  In asbestos cases, however, as is 

recognized by this Court, one cannot trace the actual fibers producing the asbestos 

disease.  Borg-Warner, 232 S.W.3d at 772.  Accordingly, the Court of Appeals errs by 

placing a scientifically impossible burden on plaintiffs in an asbestos case. 

                                              
27 The RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF TORTS states that “but for” causation is not required where multiple doses of a 

toxic agent combine to produce a cancer:  “When a person contracts a disease such as cancer, and sues multiple 

actors claiming that each provided some dose of a toxic substance that caused the disease, the question of the causal 
role of each defendant’s toxic substance arises.  Assuming that there is some threshold dose sufficient to cause the 

disease, the person may be been exposed to doses in excess of the threshold before contracting the disease.  Thus, 
some of the person’s exposure may not have been a but-for cause of the disease.  Nevertheless, each of the 
exposures prior to the person contracting the disease . . . is a factual cause of the person’s disease . . . . Whether there 

are some exposures that are sufficiently de minimis that the actor should not be held liable is a matter not of factual 
causation, but rather of policy . . . .”  RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF TORTS § 27, cmt. g (2002).   

28 The Court of Appeals also cites to the inapposite case Metro Allied Insurance Agency, Inc. v. Lin, 304 S.W.3d 830 
(Tex. 2009), in which this Court held that in a negligence and Deceptive Trade Practices Act claim for failure to 
procure insurance, the plaintiff must prove the availability of such insurance in the first instance.  Id. at 835-836.  In 
Metro Allied, like Ford v. Ledesma, there were singular alleged harms that could be traced back to a single alleged 
“but for” act.  These cases are inapplicable in the context of an asbestos toxic tort case, where the source of harm 
cannot be traced to an individual fiber. 
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3. There is conflict in the courts of appeals as to the interpretation of 
the Borg-Warner asbestos causation standard. 

It is not just this case that has perpetrated confusion with respect to this Court’s 

holding in Borg-Warner.  Indeed, the continued confusion surrounding this Court’s 

decision in Borg-Warner has also created conflicts in the Courts of Appeals, and 

therefore requires this Court’s review.  While the Court of Appeals in this case held that 

causation in an asbestos case requires proof of “but for” causation, other Courts of 

Appeals have interpreted the Borg-Warner causation standard in different, yet still 

erroneous, ways.  In Georgia-Pacific Corp. v. Stephens, 239 S.W.3d 304 (Tex. 

App. - Houston [1st Dist.] 2007, pet. denied), the Houston Court of Appeals held that 

proof of specific causation must be shown by using epidemiological studies to link the 

“minimum exposure level (or dosage) of joint compound with a statistically increased 

risk of developing the disease.”  Id. at 321; see also Smith v. Kelly-Moore Paint Co., Inc., 

307 S.W.3d 829 (Tex. App. - Fort Worth 2010, no pet.) (holding that while the plaintiff 

had satisfied the Lorhmann factors that the individual’s exposure to the product was 

frequent, regular, and proximate, the plaintiff had not met its causation burden because 

the plaintiff did not establish a minimum threshold dose for chrysotile only exposure that 

would increase one’s risk of developing mesothelioma).  The Stephens court errs by 

confusing this Court’s requirements for general causation in a toxic tort case (e.g. 

pursuant to Havner one must show a doubling of the risk in order to show that the 

substance was capable of causing the disease in the first instance), with this Court’s 

requirement as set forth in Borg-Warner that one can prove substantial contributing factor 
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by showing that the exposure to the defendant’s product “contributes” to the individual’s 

aggregate dose of asbestos.  Borg-Warner, 232 S.W.3d at 772.   

At no point did this Court in Borg-Warner hold, as did the Court in Stephens, that 

in order to show substantial contributing factor the plaintiff must amass epidemiology 

studies broken out on product-by-product basis, with the exposure to each individual 

product sufficient in and of itself to cause the disease.  Stephens thus contradicts the 

holding in Borg-Warner that it is sufficient to show that the defendant’s product 

meaningfully contributed to the aggregate dose, without the need to prove that the 

defendant’s product could in and of itself have been the sole cause of the harm.  These 

conflicts in the Courts of Appeals’ interpretations of the asbestos causation standard 

require this Court’s review. 

B. The Court of Appeals applied the wrong evidentiary standard of 

review by disregarding all evidence favorable to plaintiff and giving 

weight only to contradictory evidence elicited by defendant on cross-

examination. 

The standard of review for no evidence, or legal insufficiency of the evidence, is 

“improperly applied” if the Court of Appeals fails to affirm jury verdicts that are 

supported by evidence. See City of Keller v. Wilson, 168 S.W.3d 802, 823 (Tex. 2005). 

“The final test for legal sufficiency must always be whether the evidence at trial would 

enable reasonable and fair-minded people to reach the verdict under review.” Id. at 827. 

The reviewing court is required to credit evidence favorable to the verdict if the jury 

could do so, and is required to reject evidence contrary to the verdict unless the jury 
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could not do so.  Id.  The Court of Appeals in Bostic quite simply did not follow the 

appropriate standard of review. 

 Texas jurisprudence requires that for a “no evidence” point to be sustained, the 

record must disclose (a) a complete absence of evidence of a vital fact; (b) the court is 

barred by rules of law or of evidence from giving weight to the only evidence offered to 

prove a vital fact; (c) the evidence offered to prove a vital fact is no more than a mere 

scintilla; or (d) the evidence establishes conclusively the opposite of the vital fact. See 

City of Keller, 168 S.W.3d at 810 (quoting Robert W. Calvert, “No Evidence” and 

“Insufficient Evidence” Points of Error, 38 TEX. L. REV. 361, 362-63 (1960)). Neither 

(a), (b) or (d) apply here. It appears that the Court of Appeals relied on (c)—that the 

evidence offered to prove a vital fact was no more than a scintilla. 

If there is more than a scintilla of evidence, the Court of Appeals has no choice but 

to overrule the no evidence point and affirm the jury verdict. See ACS Investors, Inc. v. 

McLaughlin, 943 S.W.2d 426, 430 (Tex. 1997) (“Any evidence of probative force 

supporting a finding requires us to uphold the jury verdict.”). Because of Texas’ historic 

respect for jury verdicts, the no evidence standard of review requires the reviewing court 

to “consider the evidence in the light most favorable to the verdict, and indulge every 

inference that would support it.” City of Keller, 168 S.W.3d at 822. “A reviewing court 

cannot substitute its judgment for that of the trier-of-fact, so long as the evidence falls 

within this zone of reasonable disagreement.” Id. at 822.  Contrary evidence should be 

disregarded unless there is no favorable evidence, or the contrary evidence renders the 

supporting evidence incompetent or conclusively establishes the opposite of the jury’s 
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findings.29 Id. at 810-11. The Court must therefore “credit favorable evidence if 

reasonable jurors could, and disregard contrary evidence unless reasonable jurors could 

not.” Id. at 827.  “Jurors are the sole judges of the credibility of the witnesses and the 

weight to give their testimony.” Id. at 819. The Court should assume that jurors decided 

all credibility questions in favor of the verdict if reasonable minds could do so. Id. “If the 

evidence falls within the zone of reasonable disagreement, [the reviewing court] may not 

invade the fact-finding role of the jurors, who alone determine the credibility of the 

witnesses, the weight to give to their testimony, and whether to accept or reject all or any 

part of that testimony.” Hartland, 290 S.W.3d at 321-22. 

Which brings us to our case.  In a toxic tort case, proof of causation requires proof 

of both general causation and specific causation. See Merrill Dow Pharm. v. Havner, 953 

S.W.2d at 714.  General causation is whether the substance is capable of causing injury, 

and specific causation is whether the substance did cause injury to the particular 

individual.  Id.  Here, Georgia-Pacific did not contest general causation. Georgia-Pacific 

Corp. v. Bostic, 320 S.W.3d 588, 595 (Tex. App. – Dallas 2010).  Thus, the question that 

confronted the Court of Appeals was whether there was sufficient evidence that Georgia-

Pacific was a cause of the death of Timothy Bostic. 

                                              
29 This Court held that more often than not contrary evidence is discarded in the face of a jury verdict: “As trials 

normally focus on issues that jurors could decide either way, reviewing courts must disregard evidence contrary to 
the verdict far more often than they must consider it.  Just as no-evidence review that starts by disregarding contrary 
evidence often must end up considering considerably more, no-evidence review that begins by considering all the 
evidence must usually end up by considering considerably less.  Again, we do not presume to categorize all 
circumstances in which contrary evidence must be disregarded; a few examples serve to demonstrate that even under 
the inclusive standard, viewing all the evidence in a light favorable to the verdict often requires that much of it be 
disregard.”  City of Keller, 168 S.W.3d at 818-819. 
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In holding that there is Ainsufficient evidence of Timothy=s frequent and regular 

exposure to Georgia-Pacific=s asbestos-containing joint compounds during the relevant 

time period,@30 and thus insufficient evidence of causation, the Court of Appeals errs by 

disregarding the evidence showing Timothy=s significant exposure to Georgia-Pacific 

asbestos joint compound.   

The Court of Appeals recognized that Harold Bostic testified to using 

Georgia-Pacific asbestos joint compound with Timothy Amany times@ over a ten-year 

period, and that Timothy=s work history shows he was exposed to Georgia-Pacific 

asbestos joint compound as a co-worker of Harold Bostic and through household 

exposure.31  Bostic, 320 S.W.3d at 600.  Nonetheless, in contradiction to the Ano 

evidence@ principles set forth by this Court, the Court of Appeals does not view the 

evidence in a light most favorable to Plaintiffs, and instead chooses to credit competing 

evidence that the Court of Appeals states Abelies an assertion of exposure occurring 

‘many times.’”  Id. at 599.  By so doing, the Court of Appeals does not apply the proper 

evidentiary standard of review.  Without explanation, the Court of Appeals summarily 

states:  A[o]n this record, there is insufficient evidence of Timothy=s frequent and regular 

exposure to Georgia-Pacific=s asbestos-containing joint compound during the relevant 

time period.@  Id.  Presumably, the Court of Appeals is giving great deference to the 

points elicited by Georgia-Pacific on cross-examination of Harold Bostic, in which 

Harold was pressed to recall the specific part-time jobs on which he used Georgia-Pacific 

                                              
30 Bostic, 320 S.W.3d at 600. 

31 The Court of Appeals does not cite at all to the testimony of Timothy Bostic, in which he describes working as a 
child and “his whole life” with his father doing joint compound work.  See supra at Section II.C. 
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with Timothy over forty years ago.  Id. at 593.  What the Court of Appeals discredits 

entirely is Harold Bostic=s testimony that in his lifetime of work as a handyman, he used 

Georgia-Pacific asbestos joint compound with Timothy for 98 percent of the time, or 

more, and that between the time that Timothy was five years old, to 15 or 16 years old, he 

used Georgia-Pacific asbestos joint compound on a continual basis and Amany, many 

times.@  12 RR 39; 137.  Timothy testified that he worked around asbestos joint 

compound with his father his Awhole life.@  7 RR 178.  Harold testified that he Aalways 

had an extra job working for the family,@ and that he Aworked about six hours a day after 

my regular job.@  12 RR 22-23.  Given that Harold testified that 98 percent of that time he 

used Georgia-Pacific asbestos joint compound, and that he worked with Timothy on a 

continual basis, the reasonable inference to be made is that during the ten year period 

from 1967 to 1977, Timothy was exposed to asbestos from Georgia-Pacific joint 

compound on a regular, frequent, and proximate basis.   

The Court of Appeals erroneously places great weight on the fact that at the time 

of trial, nearly forty years after working on these projects, Harold Bostic was able to 

recall the names of only eight construction projects that he worked on between 1967 to 

1977.  Bostic, 320 S.W.3d at 593-94.  The Court of Appeals therefore adopts Georgia-

Pacific’s argument that these must have been the only projects upon which Harold Bostic 

worked with his son Timothy during this time period, thereby limiting Timothy Bostic’s 

exposure to Georgia-Pacific asbestos joint compound.  Id.  In a clear violation of the 

admonitions of this Court in City of Keller, that it is the province of the jury to resolve all 

conflicts in the evidence, and that the Court of Appeals must assume that jurors resolved 
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all conflicts in accordance with the verdict,32 the Court of Appeals reverses the applicable 

standard by resolving all conflicts in favor of Georgia-Pacific, and disregarding evidence 

favorable to the verdict.  Following are the conflicts in testimony that the Court of 

Appeals erroneously resolves in favor of Georgia-Pacific: 

 The Court of Appeals concludes that Harold Bostic only worked on one 
remodeling job at a time, with each job taking a “lengthy period of time 
to complete.”  Bostic, 320, S.W.3d at 593.  This conclusion ignores the 
clear contradictory testimony of Harold Bostic, who states that he would 
not work on one job at a time, and that there were side jobs and 
emergencies that came up “constantly” and “every day.”  12 RR 83-84. 

 The Court of Appeals incorrectly states that only “three projects” 
involved joint compound work.  Bostic, 320 S.W.3d at 593.  In fact, 
Harold Bostic testified that of the eight projects he recalled, he 
performed joint compound work on at least seven of them, and he was 
unsure as to the eighth.  12 RR 122 (joint compound used on “prefab” 
house); 12 RR 126-27 (joint compound used on utility room and cracks 
throughout family home); 12 RR 81 (“everything inside was drywalled” 
in the service station); 12 RR 92 (drywall “from one end to the other” in 
his sister’s older house); 12 RR 117 (patching work with joint 
compound at his mother’s house); 12 RR 117 (the “whole thing was 
drywalled” in the bathroom his brother’s house); 12 RR 81 (did drywall 
work building garage and living quarters for a friend); 12 RR 90-91 
(cannot remember if he did joint compound work at his sister’s new 
house). 

 The Court of Appeals concludes that Timothy Bostic’s direct and 
bystander exposure to Georgia-Pacific asbestos joint compound was 
“limited,” and that there was only one project on which Harold Bostic 
used Georgia-Pacific.  Bostic, 320 S.W.3d at 593.  This contradicts 
Harold Bostic’s testimony that “[f]rom the time I started with [Timothy] 
until he wasn’t able to work anymore, we used Georgia-Pacific for the 
simple reason it’s good,”33 and that he used Georgia-Pacific asbestos 
joint compound 98 percent of the time, Aor more.@  12 RR 39.   

      
32 City of Keller, 168 S.W.3d at 819-820.

33 12 RR 135. 
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 The Court of Appeals concludes that the only jobs that Harold worked 
with Timothy were the jobs that he was able to recall at trial, when in 
fact Harold testified that there was no doubt in his mind that he worked 
on other jobs, and that he was simply having trouble recalling all of 
them over thirty years later.  12 RR 136-37.  The Court of Appeals 
ignores Harold’s testimony that “old age has caught up” with him,34 and 
he “can’t remember 35 years ago,”35 but that Harold was certain that he 
worked on more places than those he was able to recall at the time of 
trial  12 RR 136. 

 The Court of Appeals infers that if Timothy was merely present with 
Harold Bostic on a project, and not specifically performing drywall 
work, that he would not have been exposed to asbestos joint compound, 
and therefore there were only “three” jobs on which Timothy may have 
been exposed.  Bostic, 320 S.W.3d at 593-94.  This is contradicted by 
the evidence in this case, which shows that because the asbestos in joint 
compound is not encapsulated, and instead becomes airborne by means 
of mixing, sanding, and clean-up, bystanders are exposed to the 
asbestos.  PX-26 (“Fibers were detected in adjacent rooms during 
mixing operations and it was reported that . . . ‘significant 
concentrations of asbestos remained suspended and could pervade living 
quarters for a considerable duration of time . . .’  [T]he use of spackling 
and other patching compounds (in mixing, sanding, and cleanup 
operations) may expose the user and other members of the household to 
‘significant concentrations of asbestos.’”).  The make-up of joint 
compound dictates that the dust will dissipate and “scatter” upon 
application and clean-up.  10 RR 101, 103-105.   

 The Court of Appeals incorrectly limits the drywall work in the house 
which Timothy Bostic lived with his father Harold to one instance—“a 
utility room” when Timothy was four or five years old36

—when in fact 
Harold testified that the sheetrock “cracked solid all over” the house, 
and “they all had to be repaired.”  12 RR 115, 131. 

 The Court of Appeals accepts unequivocally Georgia-Pacific’s 
argument that if Harold Bostic states that he “could not recall” Timothy 
“working with drywall” that Timothy was not exposed to asbestos joint 
compound, and therefore there were only “three” projects on which he 
may have been exposed.  Bostic, 320 S.W.3d at 593-94.  Harold states 

      
34 12 RR 115. 

3512 RR 131. 

36 Bostic, 320 S.W.3d at 593. 
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that because his memory cannot almost forty years later place Timothy 
at a precise place and time, it would be incorrect to conclude that 
Timothy was not there by his side, as was the normal practice:  “I don’t 
think I ever said that he didn’t or did work on some place.  He could 
have worked on all of them.  He could have worked on half of them.  I 
never said that he did or didn’t that I recall, that I say he did or didn’t.”  
12 RR 131. 

 The Court of Appeals states that Harold Bostic did no joint compound 
work in his mother’s house, which is incorrect.  Bostic, 320 S.W.3d at 
594.  In fact, Harold Bostic testified that there were cracks that he would 
have to “patch,” but that he did not do “drywall projects” where he 
“installed sheetrock.”  12 RR 117.  Here, the Court of Appeals confuses 
the fact that hanging sheetrock (drywall) is not the only process by 
which joint compound was used, and that it is also used for patching.  
PX 26 at 38790 (App. P). 

 The Court of Appeals states with skepticism that Timothy was “four or 
five years” of age at the time that his father allowed him to mud or sand 
with him at the family home, thus adopting Georgia-Pacific’s argument 
that he was too young to have meaningfully participated in his father’s 
work.  Bostic, 320 S.W.3d at 593.  This is contradicted by Georgia-
Pacific’s marketing materials, which depict a father and young toddler 
working with joint compound together,37 as well as the testimony of 
Timothy and Harold Bostic.38      

The Court of Appeals errs in viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to 

Georgia-Pacific, rather than viewing Harold Bostic=s testimony in a light most favorable 

to Plaintiffs.  The jury found that Georgia-Pacific was 75% responsible, and clearly did 

not believe Georgia-Pacific’s argument that the eight jobs that Harold was able to recall 

by name were the only jobs that he and Timothy worked on.  Instead of following the 

requisite Ano evidence@ standard of review, the Court of Appeals instead finds that the 

      
37 PX-17 (App. P). 

38 See supra Section II.C. 
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evidence Abelies@ that Harold Bostic worked with Georgia-Pacific joint compound Amany, 

many, many times@ with Timothy.  Bostic, 320 S.W.3d at 599.   

The Court of Appeals, in discrediting all the evidence above, and in applying an 

incorrect standard of review, then compounds its error by refusing to acknowledge 

Dr. Hammar=s testimony that Timothy=s exposure to asbestos joint compound was 

sufficient in and of itself to cause his mesothelioma: 

Q.  Was Timothy Bostic exposed at high enough levels, to your 
knowledge, in doing this drywall work, in mixing, sanding, and 
cleaning up of drywall materials sufficient to cause the disease 
mesothelioma? 

A.  Yes. 
 
11 RR 49.   

Instead, the Court of Appeals insists, contrary to the evidence, that Plaintiffs proved 

substantial factor causation based on the Aeach and every exposure@ theory.  Bostic, 320 

S.W.3d at 599.   

The standard of review is not what is more reasonable in the view of the Court of 

Appeals, but it is only whether there is any probative evidence that “would enable 

reasonable and fair-minded people to reach the verdict under review.” City of Keller, 168 

S.W.3d at 827. The Court of Appeals misapplied the standard of no evidence review by 

failing to consider legally sufficient evidence. Because there is legally sufficient evidence 

from which the jury could determine that it was more likely than not that Georgia-Pacific 

was a cause of Timothy Bostic’s death, this Court should grant review and reverse the 

Court of Appeals’ judgment. 
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C. The Court of Appeals failed to apply this Court’s qualification that the 

“frequency, regularity, and proximity” test may differ depending on 

the type of disease and product. 

The Court of Appeals also ignores this Court=s qualification that proof of 

causation, and hence the amount of frequency, proximity, and duration of exposure, may 

differ depending on the product at issue and the disease at issue, and thereby applies too 

high a burden to Plaintiffs.  First, this Court recognized that Ait is generally accepted that 

one may develop mesothelioma [in contrast to asbestosis] from low levels of asbestos 

exposure.@  Borg-Warner, 232 S.W.3d at 771.  This is confirmed by the record in this 

case.  Dr. Arnold Brody, professor of cell biology at Tulane University Medical School, 

testified: A[T]here=s no safe level for mesothelioma.  In other words, no one=s ever been 

able to show a level that will prevent everyone from getting mesothelioma.  Now, you 

can do that for asbestosis, and you can get pretty close probably for most lung cancer 

cases, but for mesothelioma, no one=s ever shown a safe level.@  4 RR 92.  Georgia-

Pacific’s expert in internal medicine and pulmonary disease, Dr. Richard Kronenberg, 

testified that mesothelioma, in contrast to asbestosis, requires lower levels of asbestos 

exposure to cause the disease.  15 RR 189.  Further, every expert, including Georgia-

Pacific=s experts agreed that children are more susceptible to disease from exposure to 

toxic substances.  4 RR 149-50; 5 RR 101; 14 RR 29-30; 13 RR 216.  

The Court of Appeals errs by not recognizing that extremely low levels of 

exposure to asbestos can cause mesothelioma, and therefore in order to meet the legal 

standard of frequent, proximate, and regular exposure, the causation standard is 

somewhat less rigid.  See Tragarz v. Keene Corp, 980 F.2d 411, 421 (7th Cir. 1993) 
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(holding that the frequency, regularity, and proximity test becomes Aeven less rigid@ when 

dealing with mesothelioma, which can develop after only minor exposures to asbestos 

fibers).  

The Court of Appeals also does not recognize, as does this Court in Borg-Warner, 

that the nature of the asbestos product will change the analysis required for proof of 

causation.  Borg-Warner, 232 S.W.3d at 773.  In Borg-Warner, the asbestos fibers were 

embedded in brake pads, and often Adestroyed by the heat of friction and therefore [are] 

not released to the public as asbestos fiber.@  Id. at 767.  This Court cautioned that proof 

of exposure may differ where a friable product is at issue: AWe note too, that proof of 

causation may differ depending on the product at issue; >[i]n some products, the asbestos 

is embedded and fibers are not likely to become loose or airborne, [while] [i]n other 

products, the asbestos is friable.=@ Id. at 773 (citations omitted).  Asbestos fibers in joint 

compound are neither embedded nor Adestroyed@ by the heat of friction.  On the contrary, 

the CPSC stated that asbestos in joint compound is “free-form” asbestos that is not 

“bound, woven, or otherwise ‘locked in’ to a product by resins or other bonding agents, 

or those from which fibers can readily become airborne with any reasonably foreseeable 

use.”  PX 26 at 38790 (App. P).  The Court of Appeals, in rejecting Plaintiffs= evidence of 

frequent, proximate, and regular exposure in favor of some unknown, unattainable 

standard, errs by failing to consider the extremely friable nature of the individual product 

at issue in this case. 
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D. The Court of Appeals erred in holding that this Court requires 

Plaintiffs to calculate the dose of asbestos inhaled by Timothy Bostic. 

Finally, the Court of Appeals errs by holding that Aappellees= evidence is 

insufficient to provide quantitative evidence of Timothy=s exposure to asbestos fibers 

from Georgia-Pacific=s asbestos-containing joint compound .  . .@ Bostic, 320 S.W.3d at 

601.  Borg-Warner states that the plaintiff, in proving substantial factor causation, must 

show “defendant-specific evidence relating to the approximate dose to which the plaintiff 

was exposed,” which “need not be reduced to mathematical precision.”  Borg-Warner, 

232 S.W.3d at 773.  In interpreting this standard, the Court of Appeals disregards 

Dr. Longo=s approximate quantum of the asbestos fibers released from Georgia-Pacific 

joint compound, by stating that he failed to establish a Adose@ for Timothy.  Bostic, 320 

S.W.3d at 601.  Specifically, Dr. Longo testified that while he measured the release of 

asbestos fibers from Georgia-Pacific asbestos joint compound while performing the same 

mixing, sanding, and clean-up tasks that exposed Timothy Bostic to asbestos, it would be 

scientifically impossible for him to recreate Timothy Bostic’s exposure without having 

performed contemporaneous measurements at the time. 10 RR 73; 10 RR 106. Because 

Dr. Longo testified that it would be scientifically impossible for him to calculate the 

precise dose of asbestos that Timothy Bostic inhaled, the Court of Appeals held that 

“Dr. Longo’s testimony regarding the results of his material practice simulation studies 

do not quantify Timothy’s exposure to asbestos fibers from Georgia-Pacific’s asbestos-

containing joint compound.”  Bostic, 320 S.W.3d at 601.  Therefore, lacking an exact 
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Adose@ of the airborne fibers which Timothy inhaled, the Court of Appeals found no 

evidence of quantification.  See id. 

At the outset, the Court of Appeals again violates basic principles of science—

here require time travel to measure the dose of asbestos from Georgia-Pacific’s joint 

compound that Timothy Bostic inhaled.  The absolute injustice created by this standard 

requires this Court to grant review of this case.  Indeed, the importance of this issue to the 

state of Texas is exemplified by the fact that the Texas Senate, in response to the Borg-

Warner decision, introduced and passed Senate Bill 1123, eliminating the requirement of 

“numerical dose, approximate or otherwise, of asbestos fibers to which the claimant was 

exposed that are attributable to defendant. . . .”39  Tex. S.B. 1123, 81st Leg., R.S. (2009) 

(App. E); see also S.J. of Tex., 81st Leg., R.S., at 1170-71 (2009) (Third Reading of S.B. 

1123 Before the S. Comm. on State Affairs) (App. J).  The impossibility of this draconian 

interpretation of Borg-Warner, which negates the possibility of ever meeting causation in 

an asbestos case, has been recognized in the FEDERAL REFERENCE MANUAL ON 

SCIENTIFIC EVIDENCE, which states:  “Human exposure occurs most frequently in 

occupational settings where workers are exposed to industrial chemicals like lead or 

asbestos; however, even under these circumstances, it is usually difficult, if not 

impossible, to quantify the amount of exposure.”  Bernard D. Goldstein and Mary Sue 

Henifin, Reference Guide on Toxicology, in FEDERAL REFERENCE MANUAL ON 

SCIENTIFIC EVIDENCE 403, 405 (2d ed. 2000). (App. O).  

                                              
39 S.B. 1123 was introduced as H.B. 1811 by Representative Eiland.  H.B. 1811 did not get out of committee, and 
therefore S.B. 1123 and H.B. 1811 did not become law.   
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1. Plaintiffs calculated an approximate quantum of the dose from 
Georgia-Pacific asbestos joint compound. 

Here, Dr. William Longo tested the amount of asbestos fibers released from 

Georgia-Pacific dry and pre-mixed joint compound while doing the same tasks as 

performed by Timothy Bostic—mixing, sanding, and sweeping of Georgia-Pacific 

asbestos joint compound.  10 RR 73.  Dr. Longo=s tests of the Georgia-Pacific asbestos 

joint compounds demonstrated that persons who mixed, sanded, and cleaned-up Georgia-

Pacific asbestos joint compound were exposed to levels of asbestos many times greater 

than the current OSHA permissible exposure limit of 0.1 fiber cc,40 and thousands of time 

higher than average background of asbestos in the air of 0.0005 fibers per cc.41  10 RR 

136; 95.  Dr. Longo measured a range of 2.7 to 6.6 fibers per cc when sanding and 4.7 

fibers per cc when cleaning-up the Georgia-Pacific Ready-Mix joint compound.  10 RR 

84.  For the study on the dry bag of asbestos, Dr. Longo measured 1.6 fibers per cc when 

mixing, 1.5 fibers per cc when sanding, and 1.4 fibers per cc when cleaning-up.42  10 RR 

87.  In addition, Dr. Longo testified that dumping a half a bag of joint compound released 

asbestos levels of 25 to 50 fibers per cc.  10 RR 112  Dr. Longo calculated that in a 

twenty-five pound bag of Georgia-Pacific joint compound that contained five percent 

asbestos, there would be 567,500,000 micrograms of chrysotile per bag, which equals 

                                              
40 In 1972, the OSHA permissible exposure level to asbestos was 5 fibers per cubic centimeter for an eight hour 
time-weighted average.  10 RR 136.  OSHA lowered the asbestos permissible exposure level to 2 fibers per cc in 
1976.  10 RR 138.  The current OSHA asbestos permissible exposure level is .1 fiber per cc. 10 RR 136. 

41 The EPA determined that the average background content of asbestos in the air is .0005 fibers per cc.  10 RR 95.  

42 The measurements of the dry bag of asbestos were lower than the Ready-Mix, because Dr. Longo only measured 

nine linear feet of product from the dry bag.  10 RR 87.  In other words, the less product that is used, the less 

asbestos dust will be released into the air. 
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11.4 quadrillion chrysotile fibers.  10 RR 108-10.  In the Ready-Mix study, Dr. Longo 

measured 16 billion asbestos structures on the clothing of the worker who sanded 

Georgia-Pacific asbestos Ready-Mix joint compound.  10 RR 239-40.  

Dr. Longo=s quantification of the asbestos fibers released from Georgia-Pacific 

asbestos joint compound is supported by the measurements taken by the Texas State 

Department of Health, the Gypsum Association, and the peer-reviewed, published 

literature.  A Texas State Department of Health Survey of the Georgia-Pacific Acme, 

Texas plant showed that stacking bags of asbestos  joint compound released 13.7 fibers 

per cubic foot of asbestos.  PX-12.  The Gypsum Association, of which Georgia-Pacific 

was a member, measured exposure levels from dry mixing, sanding, and sweeping 

asbestos joint compounds that exceeded the 1972 OSHA permissible excursion limits of 

10 fibers per cc.  6 RR 25-26.  For example, in one instance, sanding joint compound for 

thirty minutes released asbestos fiber levels of almost 40 fibers per cc.  6 RR 26.   The 

peer-reviewed, published literature shows that exposures to asbestos from joint 

compound work is comparable to the asbestos exposures of asbestos insulators, with a 

mean exposure to asbestos of 10 fibers per cc.43  5 RR 129, 139-40. 

2. The facts of this case are vastly different from those of Borg-

Warner. 

The facts presented by this case are inapposite from the exposure evidence that the 

Texas Supreme Court found insufficient in Borg-Warner.  In Borg-Warner, the Plaintiff 

worked as a brake mechanic for thirty-five years, performing brake jobs with numerous  

                                              
43 See supra at note 15. 
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different brands of brake pads.  Borg-Warner, 232 S.W.3. at 765.  He worked with Borg-

Warner brake pads for only three of those thirty-five years, from 1972-75.  See id.  In 

contrast, Timothy Bostic worked with Georgia-Pacific asbestos joint compound A98 

percent of the time@ if not more, for ten years.  12 RR 39.  In Borg-Warner, Plaintiff=s 

expert testified that Amost of the asbestos in brake linings is destroyed by the heat of 

friction and therefore is not released to the public air as asbestos fiber.@  Id. at 767.  In 

contrast, the evidence in this case is that the asbestos fibers were not destroyed by use or 

application, but rather were released many hundreds of times above background.  10 RR 

136; 95. In Borg-Warner, no scientist provided testimony as to the properties of the 

asbestos products at issue, such as their ability to release respirable fibers.  Id.  Indeed, 

neither of the two experts in Borg-Warner had researched the Borg-Warner products or 

had any specific knowledge about them.  See id. at 768.  Here, Plaintiffs entered 

quantifiable evidence from a Materials Analytic Scientist who had measured the release 

of respirable asbestos fibers from the very products at issue.  10 RR 84-87.  In Borg-

Warner, the asbestos at issue was Aembedded in the brake pads.@  Id. at 774.  Here, 

asbestos in the joint compound was not encapsulated, as in gaskets or brakes, but was in 

loose powder form or released through sanding.  10 RR 101, 103-105.   

Dr. Longo’s testimony with respect to the approximate quantum of respirable 

fibers released from Georgia-Pacific asbestos joint compound, coupled with the evidence 

that Timothy Bostic was exposed to Georgia-Pacific asbestos joint compound 

continuously for ten years, does not equate to the problematic “indeterminate amount” 

that may have originated with Borg-Warner products.  On the contrary, this evidence 
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satisfies this Court’s substantial factor requirement that the Plaintiffs provide 

“[d]efendant-specific evidence relating to the approximate dose to which plaintiff was 

exposed,” which “need not be reduced to mathematical precision.”  Borg-Warner, 232 

S.W.3d at 773.  The Court of Appeals errs in holding that Plaintiffs failed to satisfy Borg-

Warner’s substantial factor requirements, because Dr. Longo testified that it would be a 

scientific impossibility to recreate a plaintiff’s exact asbestos inhalations without having 

taken contemporaneous measurements at the time of exposure.44  Bostic, 320 S.W.3d at 

601.  Here, as set forth at length above, Plaintiffs quantified the frequency, regularity, and 

proximity of Timothy Bostic=s exposure to Georgia-Pacific asbestos joint compound not 

only by quantifying the ratio of Timothy Bostic=s exposure to Georgia-Pacific asbestos 

joint compound as compared to his other exposures (ten years of Georgia-Pacific asbestos 

joint compound versus three months of exposure at Knox Glass, six months at Palestine 

Contractors, potential household exposure, and sporadic brake work), but also by actually 

testing the products at issue and measuring asbestos levels multiple times in excess of 

OSHA permissible exposure limits and thousands of times above background exposure to 

asbestos.   

3. Confusion over approximate quantum has led to a conflict in the 
Courts of Appeal. 

The lower courts’ confusion over the approximate quantum requirements of Borg-

Warner has created a conflict in the Courts of Appeals.  Specifically, while in this case 

the Court of Appeals held that any evidence of dose absent specific measurements of the 

                                              
44 10 RR 73-74. 
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plaintiff’s actual inhalation of asbestos do not satisfy the Borg-Warner standard,45 the 

Fort Worth Court of Appeals held the opposite in Smith v. Kelly-Moore Paint Co., Inc., 

307 S.W.3d 829 (Tex. App. - Fort Worth 2010, no pet.).  In Smith, the Court of Appeals 

held that Dr. Longo’s testimony with respect to fibers released from asbestos joint 

compound “raised a genuine issue of material fact as to the aggregate dose of Kelly-

Moore asbestos-containing joint compound.”  Id. at 836.  This conflict in the Courts of 

Appeal requires that this Court grant review, and clarify the requirements for substantial 

factor causation in an asbestos case.   

 
V. PRAYER 

This case raises serious, widespread issues that require resolution by this Court.  

For the reasons set forth above, Plaintiffs pray that this Court grant review, clarify the 

asbestos substantial factor causation standard, and reverse the decision of the Court of 

Appeals, and for such other relief for which Plaintiffs may be entitled. 

 
  

                                              
45 See Bostic, 320 S.W.3d at 597. 
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